IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 83,623

JAMES FRANKLIN ROSE,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SEVENTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT COURT, IN AND FOR BROWARD COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

GAIL E. ANDERSON Assistant CCR Florida Bar No. 0841544

DAREN L. SHIPPY Assistant CCR Florida Bar No. 508810

OFFICE OF THE CAPITAL COLLATERAL REPRESENTATIVE 1533 South Monroe Street Tallahassee, FL 32301 (904) 487-4376

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

#### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Mr. Rose was charged with first-degree murder and kidnapping, and entered a plea of not guilty. At the original trial, the jury could not reach a verdict and a mistrial was declared (T. 1480). At the retrial, the jury convicted after receiving an <u>Allen</u>-type charge, and a judgment of conviction was entered on May 6, 1977. The jury, after telling the trial court that it was deadlocked at a 6-6 vote on the recommendation of a penalty, was instructed with another <u>Allen</u>-type charge, and eventually returned a recommendation of death. Mr. Rose was sentenced to death. On appeal, this Court affirmed the convictions, but vacated the sentence of death and directed that a new jury sentencing be held. <u>Rose v. State</u>, 425 So. 2d 521 (Fla. 1982).

Upon retrial of the penalty phase, the death penalty was reimposed and this Court affirmed. <u>Rose v. State</u>, 461 So. 2d 84 (Fla. 1984). On August 5, 1986, a death warrant was signed. On August 18, 1986, Mr. Rose filed an original habeas corpus petition and motion for stay of execution in this Court. This Court granted a stay of execution in order to consider the habeas petition, but subsequently denied relief. <u>Rose v. Dugger</u>, 508 So. 2d 321 (Fla. 1987).

Mr. Rose filed a Rule 3.850 motion in the trial court presenting valid prima facie claims for relief. The State responded that as to a number of the factual claims presented, "[t]he State agrees that in order to determine the validity of

[the claims] it is necessary to hold an evidentiary hearing" (PC-R1. 117, Response to Motion to Vacate). The trial court nevertheless denied a hearing and signed an order drafted by the State which contradicted the State's own earlier position that a hearing was necessary. A rehearing motion filed on behalf of Mr. Rose was summarily denied by the trial court.

Timely notice of appeal was filed. On appeal, this Court reversed and "direct[ed] the trial court to reconsider Rose's motion and to hold an evidentiary hearing on the ineffective assistance of counsel claims and any other appropriate factual issues presented in the motion." <u>Rose v. State</u>, 601 So. 2d 1181, 1184 (Fla. 1992).

An evidentiary hearing on Mr. Rose's claims that trial counsel and resentencing counsel provided ineffective assistance was conducted in October, 1993. While proceedings were pending in the trial court, Mr. Rose filed a Supplemental Motion to Vacate Judgment and Sentence (PC-R2. 913-28). The trial court denied relief on all claims (PC-R2. 811-12, 1032-37, 1067). As to claims upon which no evidentiary hearing was allowed, the trial court attached no portions of the files and records to its various orders. <u>Id</u>. Mr. Rose timely filed a notice of appeal.

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

# A. THE GUILT/INNOCENCE INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL CLAIM.

# 1. THE WHEREABOUTS OF JAMES ROSE AND LISA BERRY AT THE CRUCIAL TIMES.

At Mr. Rose's trial, the time at which events occurred was a central issue, as the State and defense informed the jury in argument (T. 661). The State's theory was that on October 22, 1976, Lisa Berry left the bowling alley with Mr. Rose between 9:30 and 10:00 p.m., that between 9:50 p.m. and 10:23 p.m., Mr. Rose killed Ms. Berry, that Mr. Rose then drove a 21-mile round trip to dispose of the victim's body, and returned to the bowling alley no later than 11:30 p.m. (T. 1215-16, 1219, 1226). The Jury was instructed that the State was required to prove that the offense occurred within two hours either side of 11:00 p.m. (T. 1258). Ms. Berry was first noticed missing between 11:30 and 11:45, after Mr. Rose had returned to the alley. Available to the defense, but not used at trial, was both impeachment and substantive testimony that Lisa Berry was seen at the bowling alley between 11:00 p.m. and 11:45 p.m., well after Mr. Rose had returned, after he had already displayed the red stain on his leg, and at a time demonstrating that he could not have committed the offense.

At the evidentiary hearing, trial counsel Thomas Bush testified that the State's case against Mr. Rose was circumstantial and that the time as to when Mr. Rose could have committed the murder was an important factor (PC-R2. 70). Mr. Bush explained:

We put the State in the box to the time that it could have occurred. And we had forced the State through a medical examiner to give us within a two hour period when the murder could have occurred. Once we had that two hour period narrowed down, we then tailored our defense to make time critical.

# (PC-R2. 71).

We used witness statements in pretrial proceedings and we used the statement of a Dr. Fattah to put the State in the position that if they were going to prove that Jim Rose was guilty of the crime, that he would have to have committed it between 9:30 in the evening and 11:30 in the evening.

(PC-R2. 72).

Several people who were at the bowling alley on the night of the victim's disappearance and who knew the victim gave statements to the police that they saw the victim during and after the time the State contended Mr. Rose was abducting and murdering her. These statements were all taken on October 23, 1976, the day after the victim disappeared. Mr. Rose's jury was not told about these statements.

Mr. Thomas Dusch gave police a statement in which he said he arrived at the bowling alley at 10:00 p.m. on October 22, 1976 (Def. Ex. 13, p.1). Mr. Dusch was sitting at the snack bar with several people, including Linda Nieves, who was working at the snack bar. <u>Id.</u> at 1-2. Mr. Dusch asked Ms. Nieves what time she was closing the snack bar, and "she said she hoped to close by 12 A.M." <u>Id.</u> at 2. Mr. Dusch's statement continues:

> Linda [Nieves] looked at the clock and it was about 11:45 P.M. and the little blonde girl came into the doorway of the snack bar, looked around and walked out. I had another

coffee and then Barbara [the victim's mother] came in and asked if anyone had seen Lisa, that she was missing. I said she was just here a little while ago.

(Def. Ex. 13, p.2). Later in his statement, Mr. Dusch added:

Q. When the little blonde came inside the snack bar, who was with you?

A. Mary Lou and Linda.

Q. Did you know the girl to be Barbara Berry's daughter?

A. I didn't know her name but I saw her before.

Q. What was she wearing when you saw her?

A. Green sweater and a pink pair of slacks. <u>Id.</u> at 3.<sup>1</sup> At a pretrial deposition Mr. Dusch testified he arrived at the bowling alley "[b]etween 10:00 and a quarter after 10:00" (St. Ex. 3, p.3), but trial counsel never asked whether or what time Mr. Dusch saw the victim (St. Ex. 3).

At the evidentiary hearing, Mr. Dusch testified that his statement to police was true (PC-R2. 503) and he was sticking to it (PC-R2. 507). Nobody had talked to him about the statement "except when they come and talked to me about a month ago" (PC-R2. 503).

Mr. Robert Autry also gave a statement to police the day after the victim's disappearance. Mr. Autry arrived at the bowling alley at 9:00 p.m. (Def. Ex. 12, p. 1). He identified a photograph of Lisa Berry and explained, "we bowl every Friday

<sup>&#</sup>x27;At trial, witnesses testified that Lisa Berry was wearing a green sweater and pink slacks the night she disappeared from the bowling alley (T. 772).

night...and we showed up to bowl and all three of Barbara's kids were there, we'd seen them there before, we saw them there last night." <u>Id.</u>. Mr. Autry continued:

> And after we finished bowling we were all just sitting around, this was about 20 m[i]nutes after 11, approximately, and I recalled seeing the girl at around that time, and one of our partners remarked you know those kids hang on Walt who is a boy that bowls with Barbara, like they were his grandkids...[W]e were still setting [sic] there and guess it was about 10 minutes to 12, somewhere in that neighborhood that they called the girl and discovered that she was missing and started looking for her...

Q. Let me interrupt you for a second, Robert, when you make reference to "that girl" or "the girl," you are referring to Lisa Lynn Berry, am I correct?

A. Yes, Lisa, Lisa Berry.

(Def. Ex. 12, p. 2).

Mr. Autry also saw Mr. Rose in the bowling alley that evening. Mr. Autry first saw Mr. Rose "somewhere in the neighborhood of 10, between 10 and 10:15, we were in our second game of bowling" (Def. Ex. 12, p. 5). Mr. Autry also saw Mr. Rose at about "five minutes till 12." Id. at 3. At about 12:15 a.m., several people left the bowling alley in their cars to search for Lisa Berry, including Mr. Rose in his white van: "Approximately 15-20 minutes past 12 we left, and there was several vehicles, the van was included, it was driven by Jim, and I would have to estimate approx. 15-20 minutes later we all returned." Id. at 4. At the evidentiary hearing, the State stipulated to Mr. Autry's statement and to the facts that Robert

Autry would testify that his statement to police was true and that he never recanted it (PC-R2. 508-09).<sup>2</sup>

Robert Autry's son, Joseph Autry, also gave a statement to police the day after Lisa Berry disappeared from the bowling alley. Joseph Autry's statement corroborates Robert Autry's statement regarding seeing Lisa Berry at the bowling alley. Joseph identified a photograph of Lisa Berry (Def. Ex. 14, p.2), and said he had seen her with a boy at the bowling alley. Id.<sup>3</sup> Joseph saw Lisa Berry with the boy after Joseph had finished bowling two games. Id. at 3.<sup>4</sup> After he finished bowling 2 games, Joseph went to the restaurant, which is when he saw Lisa Berry with the boy. Id. at 4. After he left the restaurant and was on his way to the pinball room, Joseph saw Lisa again, this time alone. Id. While Joseph was playing pinball, Lisa "was still in my sight." Id. Joseph saw Lisa for thirty to forty minutes after he had quit bowling:

> Q. Can you give me approx. the amount of time that went by from the time you quit bowling to the time that you noticed Lisa was gone?

A. It was about a half hour to forty minutes.

<sup>3</sup>The boy was not James Rose. Joseph Autry identified a photograph of James Rose (Def. Ex. 14, p. 2).

"Robert Autry stated that they were in their second game of bowling at 10 or 10:15 (Def. Ex. 12, p.5).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Robert Autry was subpoenaed by the defense as a witness at the evidentiary hearing, but called the State Attorney to say he couldn't appear (PC-R2. 507-08). The State then stipulated to his testimony.

Q. From the time you quit bowling to your going down to the restaurant and getting a coke, to your returning to the game room where you first saw Lisa standing by the window, your going in and playing the pinball machine where you could play it and still see Lisa, you played three games, then you ceased playing this game, came back out, walked across and got another coke and Lisa was still there and you turned around and came back from getting the coke and Lisa was gone.

A. Yes, sir.

Q. You say that this took from 30-40 minutes?

A. Yes, sir. From the time we quit bowling til [sic] I last saw her.

Q. After you went back into the pinball room how long did you stay in that room before coming back out and assisting in the search? Approximately?

A. From the last time I saw her til I went looking for her, approximately 20 minutes.

(Def. Ex. 14, p. 5). Only twenty minutes passed from the last time Joseph saw Lisa until he began helping to look for the missing girl. <u>Id.</u>

At the evidentiary hearing, Joseph Autry testified that he remembered giving a statement to police on October 23, 1976, and that the statement was true (PC-R2. 501-02). Joseph also testified that he had never changed or recanted his statement in any way. <u>Id.</u>

Linda Nieves also gave a statement to police the day after the victim disappeared from the bowling alley. The night of the victim's disappearance, Ms. Nieves was in charge of the bowling alley snack bar, where Mr. Dusch was sitting when he saw the

victim at 11:45 p.m. Ms. Nieves knew Lisa "from coming in the bowling alley with her mom...She comes in and talks to me" (Def. Ex. 20, p.1). Before that night, Ms. Nieves had seen Lisa at the bowling alley "[a] lot of times - more than a dozen I'd say." <u>Id.</u> On the night of Lisa's disappearance, Ms. Nieves first saw her about 10:00 p.m.: "She was in there earlier tonight and I asked her if she wanted a soda...that was about 10 o'clock." <u>Id.</u> Ms. Nieves also saw Lisa at about 11:45 p.m., the same time Mr. Dusch saw her:

Q. Linda, how about telling me briefly what you know about the incident as it occurred this evening?

About quarter to twelve her daughter Α. came into the restaurant, stopped just a couple of feet in towards the door and stopped, looked around, walked back out, it was getting pretty slow in there and I just happened to check the clock to see what time it was and it was exactly a guarter to twelve. I looked out to see if the bowlers were finished or almost finished because I wanted to start packing up because it was slow and I figured I'd be ready when it was time to close. Approx. 10-15 minutes at the tops her momma came in and asked me if I seen Lisa and I told her a few minutes ago she was at the door and right after that everybody started searching cause we couldn't find her.

(Def. Ex. 20, p. 1).

At the evidentiary hearing, Ms. Nieves identified her statement to police and testified that it was truthful (PC-R2. 480). Ms. Nieves testified her statement was accurate and that when she gave the statement, she did her best to be honest and straightforward (PC-R2. 481). Ms. Nieves also testified she had never changed her statement from what she had told the police

(PC-R2. 480-81). On cross-examination, Ms. Nieves was asked if it was possible that the girl she saw at 11:45 p.m. was not Lisa Berry. Ms. Nieves answered:

> I thought it was her in my knowledge. I said it was always a possibility that may be other, but to my knowledge at the time I thought it was her.

(PC-R2. 482).

The little girl was at the door several feet from me. At the time I assumed it was her. But it could be someone else.

(PC-R2. 483-84). Ms. Nieves also knew Lisa's sister Tracy and could tell the two girls apart:

Q. Okay. Do you recall Lisa Berry having a sister Tracy?

A. Yes.

Q. And that she was a year younger?

A. A year or two, yes.

Q. Did she look like Lisa?

A. A little bit. Not exact, no.

(PC-R2. 484). Also on cross, Ms. Nieves testified that she did not remember anyone talking to her about her statement in 1976 (PC-R2. 483). When she gave her statement, Ms. Nieves was upset because she was worried about the child but she was not confused (PC-R2. 485).

Other witnesses also provided police statements in which they reported seeing the victim after 10:30 p.m. Walter Isler provided a statement to law enforcement officers pretrial explaining that he had seen Lisa Berry in the bowling alley at some time "going on 11" (Def. Ex. 21, p. 2). Mr. Isler testified at trial that he last saw Jim Rose at 10 p.m. (T. 741). He testified that he "didn't remember" and "didn't recall" what his statement was about his seeing Ms. Berry (T. 757). During closing, the prosecutor (inaccurately) argued that Mr. Isler denied making a statement about Ms. Berry (T. 1215). Yet Detective McLellan, who took the statement, had recorded the session with Mr. Isler. Counsel had been provided with detective's name, the tape, and a transcript. In his statement, Mr. Isler clearly states that he last saw Lisa Berry around 11:00 p.m. that evening at the bowling alley.

Fay Grebowski also provided a recorded statement to Detective McLellan on October 23, 1976. She saw Lisa as late as 11:00 on the evening of the offense:

Q. OK, now the little girl was there at 10:15, right?

A. Right.

Q. All right. When he left, did Lisa stay in the group or did she leave?

A. No, she left.

Q. You don't know where she went?

A. No, I don't.

Q. What time was it when she came back with the little boy?

A. I would say it was about 11:00.

(Def. Ex. 19, p. 2). Defense counsel had her statement, but Ms. Grebowski was also not called at the trial.

John Hass was yet another witness who provided a sworn statement that Lisa was at the bowling alley well after Mr. Ross had left. His statement was also provided to defense counsel. The statement was taken and recorded by Detective Page on October 23, 1976, at 6 p.m., and provided the following exonerating information which the jury never heard:

Q. At what time do you remember last seeing Lisa?

A. She was still in the circle after Jim left and I last remember seeing her approximately 10:30 p.m. \* \* \* Q. When Jim left at 10:05 p.m., Lisa was still there?

A. Yes.

(Def. Ex. 22, pp. 1-2).

Denise Schauer, who worked at the bowling alley, also gave a statement to police. Ms. Schauer knew Lisa Berry and saw her twice on the night she disappeared, first at 9:00 p.m. and "then it must have been between 10:00 and 10:30 when I saw her again" (Def. Ex. 16, p. 2). Lisa Berry's mother, Barbara Berry, also gave police a statement in which she reported that she last remembered seeing her daughter "[a]round 10 or it could have been after" (Def. Ex. 18, p. 2).

At the evidentiary hearing, trial counsel testified that the statements discussed above were in his file at the time of trial (PC-R2. 78, 82, 83, 88, 90, 94, 98-99, 100). The State also stipulated that trial counsel had all of these statements at the time of trial (PC-R2. 438-42; 496-97). Further, trial counsel

testified that at trial, the court required the State to subpoena all witnesses whose names had been provided in discovery and that therefore the witnesses who gave statements to police were available to testify at trial (PC-R2. 80-81; Def. Ex. 1). Subpoenas were issued by the State for all of the witnesses discussed above (Def. Ex. 3).

At the evidentiary hearing, trial counsel testified regarding his reasons for not presenting the witnesses discussed above. Trial counsel's main reason for not presenting the testimony of these witnesses was that he wanted to be able to present two closing arguments (PC-R2. 157, 162-63, 185, 267). According to trial counsel, closing argument is a way of testifying (PC-R2. 270).

Trial counsel testified that one of the reasons he did not call Thomas Dusch was because Dusch had seen blood on Mr. Rose's pants (PC-R2. 163). Counsel testified that he did not call Robert Autry in part because Autry had seen blood on Mr. Rose's pants and van (PC-R2. 171), and that he did not call John Hass in part because Hass had seen blood on Mr. Rose's van (PC-R2. 175). Without the testimony of Dusch, Autry, and Hass, five lay witnesses who were at the bowling alley testified to seeing blood on Mr. Rose's pants (T. 725-26, 728, 730 [Margaret Szabo]; T. 743-44, 755 [Walter Isler]; T. 765-66, 769 [Joseph Szabo]; T. 779 [Barbara Berry]; T. 815 [Barry Daniello]). Two police officers testified to seeing blood on Mr. Rose's pants (T. 858, 867 [Charles Walker]; T. 879 [Arthur McLellan]). Two other police

officers testified that they questioned Mr. Rose about the blood seen on his pants (T. 912 [John Bukata]; T. 1052-53 [Allen Vansant]). One forensic chemist and one serologist also testified regarding blood on Mr. Rose's pants (T. 1131 [John Pennie]; T. 1173-74 [George Duncan]). Regarding the blood on Mr. Rose's van, one lay witness and two police officers testified to seeing it (T. 750-53 [Walter Isler]; T. 859-62, 864, 870-71 [Charles Walker]; T. 877-78, 881-85, 896-98, 903-05 [Arthur McLellan]); two police officers testified to asking Mr. Rose about it [T. 925 [John Bukata]; T. 1052-53 [Allen Vansant]; and one evidence technician and two serologists testified about collecting and examining it (T. 977-78, 992 [Charles Tipton]; T. 1115 [Patricia Jackson]; T. 1168-73 [George Duncan]).

Trial counsel testified that he did not call some of the witnesses, such as Robert Autry, because they had heard Mr. Rose explain the blood on his pants by saying he had cut himself changing a tire (PC-R2. 171). At trial, two lay witnesses from the bowling alley testified to hearing Mr. Rose's tire changing statement (T. 727 [Margaret Szabo]; T. 743 [Walter Isler]). Another lay witness testified that Mr. Rose said he cut himself getting under his van to fix something (T. 780, 791 [Barbara Berry]). Two police officers testified that while at the bowling alley, Mr. Rose said he cut himself getting under the van to fix something (T. 858, 874 [Charles Walker]; T. 879, 881, 886-89, 901-02 [Arthur McLellan]). Three other police officers testified that when they later questioned Mr. Rose about the blood on his

pants, he said he had cut himself getting under the van to fix something (T. 922-24 [John Bukata]; T. 952-53 [Edward King]; T. 1054 [Allen Vansant]).

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