FILED

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

SID J. WHITE
JUN 28 1995

CLERK, SUPREME COURT
By
Chief Deputy Clerk

JAMES FRANKLIN ROSE,)		٠, ٠,
Appellant,)		
vs.	į́	Case No.	83,623
STATE OF FLORIDA,	\		
Appellee.))		

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SEVENTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR BROWARD COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

SARA D. BAGGETT
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
FLA. BAR NO. 0857238
1655 PALM BEACH LAKES BLVD.
SUITE 300
WEST PALM BEACH, FL. 33409
(407) 688-7759

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLEE

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

[COLLATERAL COUNSEL]: Judge, just to clarify that by one more question.

BY MS. DOUGHERTY:

- Q. Is it your understanding that Judge Futch would have required you to give over the results of whatever expert you might have retained?
- A. No doubt in my mind. And also at the time there was a reciprocal discovery order in effect that if they showed me theirs, I had to show them mine.
 - Q. And did you object to that?
- A. No, I agreed to it. I wanted to see everything they had. I wanted their work product and I was getting it to some extent. But if I could have had it -- Why, Judy, when I wanted an expert to come in and say the hair couldn't be crushed meant I got the State's

own expert to admit it.

(PCR2 142-44).

Later in the evidentiary hearing, collateral counsel questioned Michael Entin, Appellant's resentencing counsel, about his investigation of nonstatutory mitigating evidence and whether he had discovered evidence of organic brain damage and abuse as a child, among other things. At one point, the following colloquy occurred:

- Q. [By collateral counsel] Is testimony regarding statutory, nonstatutory mitigation the kind of mitigation evidence that juries can rely on to negate the affect of aggravating circumstances?
- A. [By Michael Entin] Yeah, all that would have been I believe mitigating factors.
- Q. It is the type of thing to your knowledge that juries do use this type of evidence that we have been talking about, the brain damage, the child abuse?
- A. The law changes every year but I assume that it probably would have been admissible back then.
- Q. Is it the type of thing that a jury could have used to have found a life sentence for Mr. Rose?

[THE PROSECUTOR]: Objection, Judge, that calls for speculation.

THE COURT: I'll sustain the objection. Because it is strictly up to the jury to recommend. I don't know -- I can't foretell what a jury is going to recommend, so I don't know that counsel can either.

[COLLATERAL COUNSEL]: Your Honor, I would like to go ahead and proffer his answer to that.

[THE PROSECUTOR]: Objection.

THE COURT: The proffer is denied and the objection is sustained. Let's go on.

(PCR2 324-25).

In this appeal, Appellant claims that he is entitled to a new evidentiary hearing because the trial court refused to allow his proffers of evidence. Brief of Appellant at 85-86. submits that Appellant has failed to show an abuse of discretion. From the colloquies between the trial court and collateral counsel, the trial court knew the substance of the testimony sought to be presented and believed that the testimony was irrelevant or that counsel should rephrase the question. Given that the substance of the evidence sought to be proffered was apparent from the nature of the questions and the arguments of collateral counsel, the trial court's refusal to allow the proffers of evidence was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. See Brown v. State, 431 So.2d 247, 248 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983). See also Garcia v. State, 622 So.2d 1325, 1327 (Fla. 1993) (finding no abuse of discretion in restricting defense questioning at evidentiary hearing); Medina v. State, 573 So.2d 293, 295 (Fla. 1990) (finding no abuse of discretion in way judge conducted evidentiary hearing).

B. Trial court's review of record

Appellant also alleges in this appeal that Judge Ferris "denied [Appellant] relief on some claims and an evidentiary hearing on other claims without having reviewed the record." Brief of Appellant at 87. The State submits, however, that a review of the entire appellate record in this case was unnecessary in order for the trial court to make an initial determination regarding which claims should be litigated at an evidentiary hearing.

When this case was remanded for an evidentiary hearing, the State filed a "Motion to Establish Cognizable Issues Requiring an

Evidentiary Hearing Regarding Defendant's Pending Motion for Postconviction Relief." The State argued that Appellant was entitled to an evidentiary hearing only on claims A and B which alleged ineffective assistance of counsel and a <u>Brady</u> claim. All other claims, according to the State, were procedurally barred. Attached to the State's motion were exhibits containing all of Appellant's published opinions, Appellant's 3.850 motion, the State's original response, and Judge Futch's original order summarily denying all relief (specifically finding claims C through J procedurally barred). (PCR2 617-20).

Judge Ferris then held a hearing to discuss the appropriate issues for an evidentiary hearing. At this hearing, everyone agreed that claims A and B would be litigated. (PCR2 16, 18, 31). Because of the parties' differing opinions regarding the propriety of litigating claims C, D, E, F, G, and H, the trial court allowed the parties to submit additional memoranda. (PCR2 21, 24-25, 30-31). As to claims I and J, collateral counsel conceded that this Court's opinion denying habeas relief "definitely discusses these claims," but contended that the opinion "initially says that this claim is better brought in a 3850 motion . . . [a]nd that is why it was put in the 3850 motion because of that statement in the opinion." (PCR2 26). After reading the opinion, Judge Ferris found claims I and J procedurally barred. (PCR2 26-28).

Following the parties' submission of memoranda (PCR2 788-93,

¹³Collateral counsel conceded that claims E, F, G, and H had been raised on direct appeal, but denied that they were procedurally barred because "there's been a substantial amount of case law to those claims that need to be addressed and the claims do need to be considered." (PCR2 21).

794-803), the trial court ordered an evidentiary hearing on claims A and B (and C to the extent it was subsumed within claim B), found that the facts supporting claim D were known to counsel at the time of trial and thus did not support a <u>Brady</u> or <u>Giglio</u> violation, and found the remaining claims (E through J) procedurally barred. (PCR2 811-12). Based on the nature of the claims, and the trial court's familiarity with Appellant's previous appeals, it was wholly unnecessary for the trial court to read the entire appellate record before determining which issues warranted an evidentiary hearing and which issues were procedurally barred. Thus, the fact that Judge Ferris had not read the record prior to the evidentiary hearing is not grounds for reversal for a new hearing.

C. Denial of evidentiary hearing on certain claims

In this appeal, Appellant claims that the trial court "erroneously denied an evidentiary hearing on some of [his] claims," namely D, I, and J of his 3.850 motion, and claims I and II of his supplemental 3.850 motion. Moreover, Appellant complains that, in denying these claims, the trial court "did not attach portions of the files and records conclusively showing [he] was not entitled to relief on the claims upon which no evidentiary hearing was allowed." Brief of Appellant at 87-89.

Regarding the propriety of the trial court's denial of these

¹⁴Claim I in Appellant's supplemental motion was labeled "Ground D" and merely supplemented Ground D of the original 3.850 motion with additional factual allegations and legal arguments, which centered around Appellant's inability to obtain autopsy photographs of the victim's head so that he could dispute the State's "hammer blow theory" as the cause of death.

As noted previously in Issue V, claim II in Appellant's supplemental motion was labeled "Ground K" and was a completely new issue relating to the budgeting process for capital improvements and special assistant public defender funds.

claims without an evidentiary hearing, Appellant raises each of these claims separately in his initial brief. Therefore, the State will rely on its arguments made in response to those issues. As for Appellant's claim that the trial court failed to attach portions of the record relating to these claims, it is well-established that attachment of the record is not necessary when claims are denied as procedurally barred. Muhammad v. State, 603 So.2d 488, 489 (Fla. 1992). Therefore, this issue is without merit.

¹⁵The substance of claim D (and I of the supplemental motion) was raised in Issue VIII, <u>infra</u>. The substance of claims I and J were raised in Issue IX, <u>infra</u>. The substance of claim II (or K) of the supplemental motion was raised in Issue V, <u>supra</u>.

ISSUE VII

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DENIED GROUND C AS PROCEDURALLY BARRED (Restated).

In Ground C of his 3.850 motion, Appellant claimed that the facts alleged in Ground B established that Appellant invoked his right to counsel, that he did not waive that right, and that the police did not honor his request. (PCR2 686-87). The State conceded, and the trial court agreed, that the substance of Ground C should be merged into Ground B. (PCR2 18, 811). However, to the extent that Appellant sought to relitigate the Miranda issue that he raised during his first direct appeal, the State argued, and the trial court agreed, that Appellant was procedurally barred from (PCR2 18, 811). In an attempt to overcome the bar, Appellant claimed that this issue could be relitigated based on new law, i.e., Edwards v. Arizona, 451 U.S. 477 (1981). (PCR2 686-87). Edwards, however, was held to be prospective only in Solem v. Stumes, 465 U.S. 638 (1984). See also State v. LeCroy, 461 So.2d 88, 92 (Fla. 1984). Therefore, as the trial court properly found, to the extent that this issue is not subsumed within Ground B, it is procedurally barred. Regarding the substance of this claim as it relates to Ground B, the State will rely on its arguments made in Issue IV, supra.

ISSUE VIII

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DENIED GROUND D AS PROCEDURALLY BARRED (Restated).

In ground D of his motion for postconviction relief, Appellant alleged that Lisa Berry's cause of death was misrepresented during trial either because of an incompetent medical assessment or by the of misleading testimony, State's false oruse Specifically, Appellant claimed that Dr. Fattah, the medical examiner who performed the autopsy on Lisa Berry, was incompetent and/or that the State "fed" the hammer-blow theory to Dr. Fattah before the autopsy and then persuaded Dr. Fattah to testify to it even though the State knew it was false. (PCR2 687-95). support these allegations, Appellant relied primarily on the deposition testimony of Dr. Joseph Davis, the Chief Medical Examiner in Broward County, who had been appointed as an expert for In his deposition, taken by the State on March 9, the defense. 1977, Dr. Davis disagreed with Dr. Fattah's opinion that Lisa Berry's death was caused by blunt force trauma, either from a hammer, foot, or hand. (PCR2 689-94).

As further evidence of State misconduct, Appellant quoted a partial excerpt from another case wherein a different prosecutor attacked the credibility of Dr. Fattah, who had resigned from the medical examiner's office sometime after Appellant's trial and gone into private practice. Such comments, Appellant claimed, showed that "[t]he State thought the same at the time of [Appellant's]

¹⁶Appellant also alleged that "Dr. Wright, another competent pathologist [would] also so testify at an evidentiary hearing." (PCR2 694).

trial, but used Dr. Fattah's misleading testimony anyway." (PCR2 694-95). Appellant then attacked the State for using Dr. Fattah at his resentencing even though it "knew his testimony was unreliable and untruthful then, as well." (PCR2 695). In denying the claim, the trial court found that "it is predicated on facts that were already known and in the possession of the Defendant as of the date of trial." (PCR2 811).

In this appeal, Appellant renews his claim that the State knowingly and intentionally presented misleading testimony at his original trial and at his resentencing in violation of Giglio v. <u>United States</u>, 405 U.S. 150 (1972). As the State has consistently argued (PCR2 18-19, 23, 619, 735-36, 796-97), and as the trial court properly found (PCR2 811), this claim is procedurally barred. Appellant knew Dr. Fattah's opinion regarding the cause of death before his original trial. He even provided to his own expert Dr. Fattah's deposition testimony and all of the materials used by Dr. Fattah to render his opinion. (PCR2 689-92). Appellant relied on his own expert's opinion to refute Dr. Fattah's testimony. Moreover, the differing opinions of Drs. Fattah, Davis, and Wright were explored at Appellant's resentencing. (RS 279, 290, 741-803). Thus, since the bases for this claim have been known to Appellant long before now, he could have, and should have, raised this claim on direct appeal from his original trial, or from his resentencing, or in his state habeas petition. Because he failed to do so, he was procedurally barred from raising this claim in his 3.850 motion. See Harvey v. Dugger, 20 Fla. L. Weekly S269, 270 (Fla. June 8, 1995).

Even were it properly raised in his 3.850 motion, however, it

was legally insufficient on its face. In order to establish a Giglio claim, Appellant had to show "(1) that the testimony was false; (2) that the prosecutor knew the testimony was false; and (3) that the statement was material." Routly v. State, 590 So.2d 397, 400 (Fla. 1991). As Appellant related in his motion, Dr. Fattah testified that Lisa Berry died from severe head injuries caused by blunt force trauma. Regarding the type of instrument that could have caused the injuries, Dr. Fattah testified that the object "could [have been] a hammer." He also testified that the injuries could have been caused by falling against a blunt object, by kicking, or by a "man's hand." (PCR2 688). In other words, Dr. Fattah testified that the injuries were consistent with any of these methods; he never conclusively opined that the injuries were caused by any specific instrument. The fact that Dr. Davis did not agree with Dr. Fattah's testimony does not prove that Dr. Fattah's testimony was false. Rather, it shows a difference of professional "Equivocal testimony such as this does not constitute opinion. false testimony for purposes of Giglio." Routly, 590 So.2d at 400. See also Phillips v. State, 608 So.2d 778, 781 (Fla. 1992). In any event, there is no reasonable probability that Dr. Fattah's inconclusive testimony affected the judgment of the jury. Appellant noted in his motion, the State linked the hammer found next to the victim's body to Appellant by other means. (PCR2 688). Regardless of Dr. Fattah's testimony, the State could have argued by inference that the hammer was the instrument of death. Therefore, if not procedurally barred, this claim could have been denied as legally insufficient on its fact. See Rivera v. Dugger, 629 So.2d 105, 107 (Fla. 1993); Spaziano v. State, 570 So.2d 289,

290-91 (Fla. 1990).

To support his contention to the contrary, Appellant relies on Troedel v. Wainwright, 667 F. Supp. 1456 (S.D. Fla. 1986), aff'd, 828 F.2d 670 (11th Cir. 1987). Brief of Appellant at 92. Troedel, however, is easily distinguishable. In that case, a state expert on gunpowder residue testified in a codefendant's case that the codefendant could have fired the weapon. In the defendant's later trial, the expert testified that Troedel fired the weapon. At a deposition just prior to a federal evidentiary hearing, the expert testified that he could not determine to a scientific certainty who had fired the murder weapon. Given that the expert's unequivocal testimony at the two trials was not based on a reasonable degree of scientific certainty, that the State pursued inconsistent positions at each defendant's trial based on the expert's testimony, and that there was no other evidence to prove that Troedel fired the murder weapon, the federal district court granted habeas relief. Id. at In Appellant's case, however, Dr. Fattah's testimony regarding the murder weapon was not unequivocal; rather, he testified that the murder weapon could have been a hammer, shoe, hand, or other blunt object. Moreover, unlike in Troedel, Dr. Fattah never wavered in his testimony. Finally, Dr. Fattah's testimony regarding the potential causes of the victim's injuries was not critical to proving Appellant's guilt. Thus, there is no reasonable probability that his testimony affected the verdict. Consequently, Troedel is totally inapposite.

As for Appellant's claim that "current counsel could not properly challenge Dr. Fattah's trial testimony because of evidence that remains undisclosed--critical photographs of the victim's

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